
31 January 2019 at 7.00 pm

Conference Room, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks
Despatched: 23.01.19

Standards Committee 
Membership:
Chairman, Cllr. Gaywood; Vice-Chairman, Cllr. Ball  
Cllrs. Bosley, Clark, McGarvey, McGregor and Mrs. Morris

Agenda
There are no fire drills planned. If the fire alarm is activated, which is a 
continuous siren with a flashing red light, please leave the building immediately, 
following the fire exit signs.

Apologies for Absence
Pages Contact

1.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 2)
To agree the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 1 May 2018, as a correct 
record.

2.  Declarations of interest 
Any interests not already registered

3.  Monitoring Officer Annual Report (Pages 3 - 22) Martin Goodman 
Tel: 01732 227245

EXEMPT INFORMATION 

At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any 
such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public.

If you wish to obtain further factual information on any of the agenda items listed 
above, please contact the named officer prior to the day of the meeting.

Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or 
have any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact 
Democratic Services on 01732 227000 or democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk.



This page is intentionally left blank



5

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2018 commencing at 7.45 pm

Present: Cllr. Gaywood (Chairman)

Cllr. Ball (Vice Chairman)

Cllrs. Bosley, McGregor, Mrs. Morris, McGarvey and Clark

Cllrs. Mrs. Bosley, Dr. Canet, Firth, Pett and Miss. Stack were also 
present.

8.   Minutes 

Resolved: That the minutes of the Standards Committee held on 15 January 
2018 be agreed and signed as a correct record. 

9.   Declarations of interest 

There were no additional declarations of interest. 

10.   Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct complaints. 

At the last meeting for the Committee it was resolved that there should be 
additional meeting before Annual Council to consider amending the arrangements 
for Standards Complaints.  A group of Members had met since that meeting to 
consider the issue.

A Member advised that the Committee on Standards in Public Life was undertaking 
a review of local government ethical standards, and inviting responses to its 
consultation to inform its review of local government ethical standards. The 
consultation was due to close at 5pm on 18 May 2018.  As no other Members or 
Officers had seen this consultation it was agreed to circulate it after the meeting 
for anyone wishing to respond.

It was agreed that despite this consultation any amendments could still be looked 
at and a report to another meeting before the next Governance Committee, as 
Governance Committee would have to consider any constitutional changes, was 
required.

Public Sector Equality Duty 

Members noted that consideration had been given to impacts under the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. 

Resolved: That 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Standards Committee - 1 May 2018

6

a) the report be noted; and

b) a Member report be submitted to an additional meeting in June 2018, 
before the next meeting of Governance Committee in order that any 
recommendations could be referred.

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 8.16 PM

CHAIRMAN

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



MONITORING OFFICER’S ANNUAL REPORT 

Standards Committee – 31 January 2019

Report of Monitoring Officer

Status For consideration 

Also considered by Council – 26 February 2019

Key Decision No

This report supports the Key Aim of effective management of Council resources.

Contact Officer Martin Goodman, Ext. 7245

Recommendation to the Standards Committee:  That the Monitoring Officer’s 
Annual Report be noted.

Recommendation to Full Council:  That the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report be 
noted.

Reason for recommendation: This report sets out the work of the Monitoring 
Officer and Standards Committee.  It also reports upon the governance 
arrangements monitored by other committees and as such provides information on 
the ethical standards set by the Council.  It is intended to promote Member and 
public confidence in the Council’s governance framework and standards regime.

Introduction and Background

1 The fourteenth Annual Report of the Monitoring Officer is attached as an 
Appendix to this report.

2 The purpose of the Monitoring Officer’s Report is to provide an annual 
overview of the work of the Monitoring Officer, the work of the Standards 
Committee and the general governance arrangements of the Council.  

3 Reporting provides an opportunity to review and learn from experience.  The 
Report also gives Members of the Standards Committee background 
information to facilitate the carrying out of their functions.

4 The Monitoring Officer’s Report sets out the Monitoring Officer’s statutory 
responsibilities, summarises how these duties have been discharged during 
2018 in accordance with legislation and the Council’s Constitution.  If 
necessary it can draw attention to those issues requiring attention in the 
coming year.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Key Implications

Financial 

5 The Monitoring Officer’s Report has not identified any financial implications 
for this Council over and above normal requirements.

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement. 

6 The Monitoring Officer’s Report has not uncovered any illegality.

Equality Assessment 

7 The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low 
relevance to the substance of the Equality Act.  There is no perceived impact on 
end users.

Conclusions

8 The Monitoring Officer’s report sets out the elements of good governance 
and demonstrates that robust procedures are in place to raise ethical standards, 
identify problems and ensure that Members, Officers and the Public are aware of 
appropriate channels to raise concerns.

Appendices Appendix A - Monitoring Officer’s Report 

Appendix B - letter from Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman.

Background Papers None.

Martin Goodman
Monitoring Officer

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A

REPORT OF THE

MONITORING OFFICER

2018 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A

Introduction

This is the fourteenth Annual Report of the Monitoring Officer, for the period 
January 2018 to December 2018.  The purpose of the Monitoring Officer’s Report is 
to provide an annual overview of the work of the Monitoring Officer, the work of 
the Standards Committee and the general governance arrangements of the Council.  
Reporting provides an opportunity to review and learn from experience.  

The Report also gives Members of the Standards Committee background 
information to facilitate the carrying out of their functions.  The Monitoring 
Officer’s Report sets out the Monitoring Officer’s statutory responsibilities and 
summarises how these duties have been discharged during 2018 in accordance with 
legislation and the Council’s Constitution.  Where necessary the Report can draw 
attention to those issues requiring attention in the coming year.

1. Recommendations

That the Standards Committee notes the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report.

That Full Council notes the Monitoring Officer’s Annual Report.

2. The Role of the Monitoring Officer

The role of the Monitoring Officer derives from the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989.  The Act requires local authorities to appoint a Monitoring Officer.  

The Monitoring Officer has a broad role in ensuring the lawfulness and fairness of 
Council decision making, ensuring compliance with Codes and Protocols and 
promoting good governance and high ethical standards.  

A Summary of the Monitoring Officer’s Functions is as follows:

Description Source

Report on contraventions or likely 
contraventions of any enactment or rule 
of law

Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Report on any maladministration or 
injustice where the Ombudsman has 
carried out an investigation

Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Appoint a Deputy Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A 

Description Source

Establish and maintain the Register of 
Members’ interests.

The Localism Act 2011 (Commencement 
No. 6 and Transitional, Savings and 
Transitory Provisions) Order 2012

The Localism Act 2011

The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012

Report on sufficiency of resources. Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Maintain the Constitution The Constitution

Promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct.

The Localism Act 2011

Grant Dispensations The Localism Act 2011 and delegation 
from Council

Consulting with, supporting and advising 
the Head of Paid Service and s.151 
Officer on issues of lawfulness and 
probity.

The Constitution

Appointing an Investigating Officer in 
relation to Member Complaints

The Localism Act 2011 and the 
Constitution

Advising the Standards Hearings Sub 
Committee in relation to allegations of 
breaches of the Code of Conduct and 
advising when matters are determined 
following an investigation

The Localism Act 2011 and the 
Constitution

Advise on whether executive decisions 
are within the Budget & Policy 
Framework.

The Constitution

Provide advice on vires issues, 
maladministration, financial 
impropriety, probity, Budget and Policy 
Framework issues to all members.

The Constitution and s.5 of Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989  

Legal Advice and Support to the 
authority

The Constitution

Considering whether certain Information 
is exempt from disclosure under the 
Freedom of Information Act.

Freedom of Information Act 2000

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A

3. The Constitution

The Constitution sets out how the Council operates and how decisions are made.  It 
sets out the procedures which are followed to ensure that these decisions are 
efficient, transparent and that those who make the decisions are accountable to 
local people.  The Monitoring Officer is responsible for ensuring that the 
Constitution operates efficiently, is properly maintained and followed.  

3.1 Constitutional Review and Revision

This Council continues to update its Constitution as and when necessary and reports 
to the Governance Committee of the Council in this respect.  During the year there 
were no substantial revisions to the Council’s constitution.

3.2 Fitness for Purpose

The Constitution sets out in clear terms how the Council operates and how 
decisions are made.  Some of these processes are required by law, while others are 
a matter for the Council to choose.  The purpose of the Constitution is to:

 ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable 
to local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; 

 support the active involvement of local people in local authority decision 
making;

 help Members represent local people more effectively;

 enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; and

 hold decision makers to public account.

3.3 Managing the Constitution

Any significant changes to the Council’s decision making arrangements and 
Committee structure need to be approved by full Council.  The Council will monitor 
and review the operation of the Constitution to ensure that the aims and principles 
of the Constitution are given full effect.  The Governance Committee ensures that 
this takes place.

4. Lawfulness and Maladministration

The Monitoring Officer is the Council’s lead adviser on issues of lawfulness and the 
Council’s powers and in consultation with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief 
Finance Officer (s.151 Officer) advises on compliance with the Budget and Policy 
Framework.  Part of this role involves monitoring Committee reports, agendas and 
decisions to ensure compliance with legislation and the Constitution.  

The Monitoring Officer ensures that agendas, reports and minutes of all Council 
meetings are made publicly available unless there is a reason for exemption under 
the Local Government Act 1972. In addition, Portfolio Holder decisions are also 
made publicly available subject to the same caveat as are all planning and licensing 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A 

decisions made by Officers including other Officer delegated decisions as required 
by the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014.  It is of course the 
Council’s position that where required by law all such decisions should easily be 
accessible by members of the public through the Council’s website: 
www.sevenoaks.gov.uk.

If the Monitoring Officer considers that any proposal, decision or omission would 
give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission has given rise to 
maladministration he must report to the full Council or where appropriate the 
Cabinet after first consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Chief Finance 
Officer (s.151 Officer).  Any proposal or decision that is subject to such a report 
cannot be implemented until the report has been considered.

The sound governance arrangements operated by the Council ensure that the 
power to report potentially unlawful decision making is rarely used and the 
Monitoring Officer has not had to issue such a report throughout 2018.

4.1 Reports from the Local Government Ombudsman

On 18 July 2018 the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman wrote to the 
Council with its Annual Review Letter, which is attached.  In the year 2017/18 the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman received ten complaints about the 
Council.  Four related to Planning and Development, two to Environment Services, 
two to Benefits and Tax, one to Housing and one to Highways and Transport.  For 
comparison, last year the Ombudsman received eleven complaints.

During the year, seven decisions were made by the Local Government and Social 
Care Ombudsman.  Five were referred back for local resolution and two were 
closed after initial enquiries.
 
5. Good Governance

The Monitoring Officer has a pro-active role in promoting good practice, good 
procedures and good governance.  This involves networking, collaboration, joined-
up working practices and decision making as well as ensuring standing orders, codes 
of practice, procedures are kept under review and up to date.  The Monitoring 
Officer regularly meets with the Head of Paid Service (the Chief Executive) and sits 
on Strategic Management Team with the Chief Officers including the s.151 officer 
(Chief Finance Officer).  The Monitoring Officer also works in partnership with 
officers of the Council to develop and disseminate policies and procedures.  

6. Quercus 7 Ltd and Quercus Housing Ltd

As Members will recall, on the last day of 2015 the Council stepped up its efforts to 
bring further economic growth to the District by establishing a Trading Company 
(Quercus 7 Ltd) wholly owned by the Council so as to exercise the powers to trade 
contained in the Local Government Act 2003 and the Localism Act 2011.  

On 13 April 2018 the Council established a housing company (Quercus Housing Ltd) 
to deliver affordable housing in the district on a not-for-profit basis spending 
available s.106 funds.  

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A

In case of conflict of interest the officers of the Legal Department and the Chief 
Officer Corporate Services are available to procure independent advice to the 
Council on issues arising from this arrangement.

It should be remembered that the companies are separate entities from each other 
and are not part of the Council.  No member is in control of either company.  The 
role of the Monitoring Officer therefore does not apply to the operations of Quercus 
7 Ltd or Quercus Housing Ltd.

7. The Ethical Framework and Work of the Standards Committee

The Standards Committee (introduced on the 24 July 2012) comprises seven 
Members.  Legislation allows for the appointment of Independent Persons, who 
have a statutory role under the Localism Act 2011 to assist any Member who has 
been accused of breaching the Code of Conduct.  Sevenoaks District Council has 
appointed two Independent Persons.  They are not co-opted Members of the 
Standards Committee although they are given details of the Committee’s meeting 
date in order that they may attend.

The Independent Persons also assist the Monitoring Officer in considering 
complaints and are consulted by the Monitoring Officer following investigations to 
help decide what action to take.

The Standards Committee has a key role in facilitating and promoting the Ethical 
Framework and in promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct within the 
Authority. The terms of reference of the committee are set out within Part 3 of the 
Constitution entitled “Standards Committee”.

Examples of the Standards Committee’s work during 2018 are as follows:

 Receiving the Annual Monitoring Officer’s Report

 Attending additional meetings of the Standards Committee

 Being on Standby to grant Dispensations

 Being on Standby to carry out hearings.

8. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Non-Pecuniary Interests

The codes of conduct of relevant authorities must include provision for the 
registration and disclosure of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) as defined in 
the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  The 
Localism Act 2011 introduced criminal offences for failure to register DPIs.  

Members are aware that they commit a criminal offence if they participate or vote 
when they have a DPI ‘in’ a matter.  A Member has a DPI ‘in’ a matter where it is, 
or includes, his interest – where there is a close alignment between the interest 
and the matter under consideration.  Ultimately the responsibility for complying 
with this provision lies upon Members although the Monitoring Officer will provide 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A 

advice as necessary.  Training will be refreshed in 2019 with the new intake of 
Members. 

Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  Members are aware that even if a Member’s 
interest does not amount to a disclosable pecuniary interest, if their interest in a 
matter would lead them to predetermine a decision, or look like they are biased, it 
would not be appropriate for that member to participate in the decision.  If they 
did so the decision could be vulnerable to challenge.  The Sevenoaks District 
Council Code of Conduct also requires the registration of certain non-pecuniary 
interests, although no criminal liability attaches to a failure to register.

The prohibitions on councillors participating in any discussion or vote on an item of 
Council business in which they have a DPI ensures that Councillors cannot put their 
private financial interests before the public interest.  However, where a Councillor 
has a disclosable pecuniary interest but stand to make no personal financial gain by 
participating in a discussion or vote on Council business related to that interest, 
they can apply for a dispensation, under section 33 of the Localism Act 2011.  The 
grounds for granting a dispensation will depend on the circumstances.  

Dispensations are mostly considered by the Standards Sub-Committee for Granting 
Dispensations, although the Monitoring Officer has power to grant dispensations in 
circumstances where a meeting may not be quorate.  In respect of parish and town 
councils, the Clerk has the power to consider and grant dispensations.

Members convicted of offences under the Act are liable to a fine of £5,000 and may 
also be disqualified from being a councillor for up to five years.  This should not be 
confused with the offence of Misconduct in Public Office, instances of which are 
rare and which carries a maximum penalty of life imprisonment.

9. Code of Conduct for Employees

The Code is based on an original draft published by the IDeA and has been updated 
since being implemented in 2006.  The Code forms part of the employers’ terms 
and conditions of employment.  The Code is available on the Council’s intranet and 
is introduced to employees during the induction process along with relevant 
policies. 

Under the Code employees must declare any non-financial or financial interests 
that they or members of their family have which they consider could conflict with 
the Council’s interests.  Chief Officers and the Chief Executive declarations of non-
financial or financial interests are declared to the Monitoring Officer. 

All relationships of a business or private nature with external contractors, or 
potential contractors should be made known to the employees’ Managers and Chief 
Officers.  All hospitality received and given should be appropriate, necessary and 
must, wherever possible, have the prior sanction of the relevant Chief Officer and 
must be recorded in the Hospitality Book kept by the Chief Executive’s Secretary.  
There is a Protocol on Corruption, Gifts and Hospitality contained within the Staff 
Code of Conduct.  The Hospitality Book is regularly reviewed by the Monitoring 
Officer, Head of Paid Service and s. 151 Officer.

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A

10. Standards Committee and the Code

Sevenoaks District Council’s Code of Conduct is based on text published by the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).  Town and Parish 
Councils have adopted their own Codes based on the seven Nolan principles of 
selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and 
leadership.  The District Council encouraged Town and Parishes to adopt the 
Sevenoaks District Council Code, although it is known that some have adopted the 
National Association of Local Council’s model.

The Standards Committee is an ordinary committee of the Council which means 
that it is subject to the usual requirements relating to access to information and 
political balance.    

11. Complaints against Members

The current Standards Regime, set up under the Localism Act 2011, was 
implemented by this Council in July 2012.  This provides a mechanism for receiving 
and processing complaints against Members.

Under the Localism Act 2011 authorities are not obliged to include provisions in 
their arrangements for Members to be able to appeal against findings that they 
have breached the Code of Conduct.  In line with this, Sevenoaks District Council 
decided not to include appeal provisions in its arrangements (although for 
procedural irregularity a complaint can always be made to the Ombudsman). 

The Localism Act 2011 makes no provision for sanctions against Members found to 
have breached the Code of Conduct.  However, authorities are able to censure 
Members, to publicise breaches of the Code of Conduct, to arrange for a report to 
Full Council and to recommend that Members be removed from positions on 
committees and outside bodies.  This Council decided to include in its 
arrangements provisions for the Monitoring Officer to be instructed to arrange 
training for the Member and/or conciliation, if appropriate, which is a useful 
practical measure for improving Member conduct.

A number of formal complaints were received between January and December 
2018.  For comparison, there were seven complaints between January and 
December 2017.  It should be noted that the complaints which were unresolved at 
the date of my report on 2017 resulted in no further action. It appears that 
although the Code of Conduct is well observed there is no apparent hindrance to 
those who wish to make a formal complaint about Member conduct.  

Under the existing system, the Monitoring Officer first carries out an ‘initial intake 
test’ to determine whether the complaint can be processed.  

If it passes that test, it will thereafter be assessed and the Monitoring Officer will 
take no further action, attempt informal resolution or recommend formal 
investigation.  In the latter case, if the investigation concludes that there is 
evidence of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer 
(having consulted the Independent Person) will either seek informal resolution or 
refer the matter to the Standards Hearing Sub Committee.

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A 

Please see the below table for a breakdown of complaints received during 2018.  It 
is not appropriate to discuss these matters at Committee and this analysis is 
provided to illustrate the nature of the complaints and their resolution: 

Date 
made

Subject 
Member

Complainant 
public or 
Member?

Date 
received

Assessed Result

27/03/18 Town 
Councillor

Member 28/03/18 Failed 
Initial 
Intake test.

27/03/18 Town 
Councillor

Public 28/08/17 Failed 
Initial 
Intake test.

08/06/18 Town 
Councillor

Public 08/06/18 17/07/18 No further 
action.

13/06/18 Town 
Councillor

Member 13/06/18 Withdrawn.

28/06/18 District 
Councillor

Public 28/06/18 Failed 
Initial 
Intake test.

31/07/18 District 
Councillor

Public 01/08/18 10/08/18 No further 
action.

23/10/18 Town 
Councillor

Public 23/10/18 Failed 
Initial 
Intake test

10/11/18 District 
Councillor

Public 12/11/18 Failed 
Initial 
Intake test.

13/11/18 District 
Councillor

Public 14/11/18 Failed 
Initial 
Intake test.

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A

12. Support to Councillors, Cabinet, Scrutiny and Committee Meetings

The distribution and publication of committee reports, agendas and decisions is 
central to meeting the requirements of a key deliverable.  It is the Monitoring 
Officer’s responsibility to oversee the process and ensure that these documents 
comply with statutory and constitutional requirements.  He also oversees the 
annual reporting to the Audit Committee of the proper working of the Members’ 
Allowance Scheme.

Ensuring compliance with the committee process includes:

 Distributing and publishing all agendas within five clear working days of the 
meeting taking place and ensuring that all agendas are compliant with the 
access to information rules and exempt information is marked up 
accordingly. 

 Advertising public meetings five clear days before the meeting date. 

 Ensuring that papers are made available to the public. 

 Drafting minutes for publication within nine working days. 

 Publishing a record of all decisions including key decisions taken by Cabinet 
within 48 hours (2 working days) of the meeting. 

 Ensuring that petitions are handled in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution including e-petitioning. 

 Ensuring that meetings are accessible.

 Complying with the requirements of The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012.

 The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014

 Attendance at Cabinet and Council. 

One of the explicit aims of the Council has been to try and streamline the decision 
making process to allow Council to focus on service delivery.  The following is the 
statutory meetings analysis, covering meetings which were serviced between 1 
January 2018 and 31 December 2018: 

Full Council Meetings
(including 1 annual meeting)  

5

Cabinet 11

Audit Committee 4

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A 

CIL Spending Board

Development Control Committee

2

12

Direct and Trading Advisory Committee 3

Economic and Community Development 
Advisory Committee 

4

Finance Advisory Committee 5

Governance Committee 1

Health Liaison Board 3

Housing & Health Advisory Committee 4

Legal & Democratic Advisory Committee 4

Licensing Committee 4

Licensing Hearing

Planning Advisory Committee 

5

6

Policy & Performance Advisory Committee 4

Scrutiny Committee 4

Sevenoaks Joint Transportation Board 4

Standards Committee 2

The volume of meetings represents a substantial commitment of both Councillors’ 
and Officers’ time and resources.  It is of great importance that meetings 
constitute an effective use of time and resources; that they add value to corporate 
effectiveness and help in meeting the aims and objectives of the Constitution and 
the Community Plan and Corporate Plan.

The requirements for notice of Key Decisions set out in the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012 are being followed to the satisfaction of the Monitoring Officer.  

The Council is required by Law to discharge certain scrutiny functions and this 
function is fulfilled to the satisfaction of the Monitoring Officer by the Scrutiny 
Committee.  

It should be noted that during the year the Council was joined by a new Member in 
the Farningham, Horton Kirby and South Darenth ward.  The by-election in that 
ward was triggered by the former incumbent without dispensation being unable to 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A

attend meetings for six months, leading to automatic disqualification as a Member.  
Naturally this is not a regular occurrence and has in any case not impacted upon 
the delivery of support to the Committee process.

13. The Transparency Code

The Council has been under a duty to publish a range of data under the Local 
Government Transparency Code and associated Regulations since 2014.  

It is the Government’s stated desire to place more power into citizens’ hands to 
increase democratic accountability and make it easier for local people to 
contribute to the local decision making process and help shape public services.  
The Code has been issued to meet this desire.  The Government has set out that: 

“Transparency is the foundation of local accountability and the key that gives 
people the tools and information they need to enable them to play a bigger role in 
society.  The availability of data can also open new markets for local business, the 
voluntary and community sectors and social enterprises to run services or manage 
public assets.”  

The Government published a revised and updated Code in 2015 and the Council 
remains committed to carrying forward the enhanced requirements of the new 
Transparency Code.  The development of a new Council website, which will shortly 
go live, is aimed to provide improved access to Council information, including data 
sets required to be published by Government.

14. Member Training and Development

Members received training on a number of matters during the calendar year, 
including vital training on planning enforcement, development control and making 
defensible planning decisions.  Throughout the year they have been kept up-to-
date with developments relating to the Local Plan.  Compulsory Licensing training 
is provided to Members on an annual basis and upon election all Members are 
provided with induction training.  

Significantly, during the year a programme of Member training was rolled out to all 
Members following the results of a survey into their preferences.  It included 
training on compliance with the General Data Protection Regulation, which came 
into force on 25 May 2018.  

15. GDPR

GDPR (the General Data Protection Regulation) came into effect during the year 
and the Council was ready for implementation on the appointed date of 25 May 
2018.  The Data Protection Act 1998 was replaced by the Data Protection Act 2018, 
giving individuals greater rights, protections and freedoms. 

It was essential for the Council to be ready to honour the various rights enshrined 
in the regulation, in particular the ‘right to be forgotten’ and the right of subject 
access.  Robust systems are in place to ensure that the public can exercise these 
rights as they should.

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A 

Furthermore, policies and procedures were put in place to ensure compliance and 
the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that the necessary changes and developments 
have occurred.  The Council is fully compliant with GDPR and this is a testament to 
the hard work of Officers and Members in implementing the new regulation.

16. Whistle Blowing

Sevenoaks Council is committed to having effective whistleblowing arrangements in 
order to safeguard individuals who have genuine cause for raising concerns in the 
work place and to promote good governance and safeguard the public interest.

The Council’s Whistle Blowing Policy sets out how to raise concerns within the 
organisation and is designed to give statutory protection to employees who “blow 
the whistle” on their employer’s malpractice. In addition, the Council aims to 
mitigate the risk of inappropriate behaviour by those undertaking work on behalf of 
the Council and the Council refers to this Policy in contracts with suppliers and 
service providers, in the Procurement Guide and in its partnership arrangements.

The Council takes seriously and will investigate all reports of improper activities. 
The Policy aims to ensure that when concerns are raised, the Council will address 
the concerns and protect the person raising the concern.

The Council is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity 
and accountability and in line with this commitment the Council reviewed and 
updated its Whistleblowing Policy two years ago to incorporate the requirements of 
the new Statutory Code of Practice recommended by the Whistleblowing 
Commission. The Whistleblowing Policy is subject to annual review by the Audit 
Committee with the review taking into consideration the views of users of the 
Policy and any relevant professional or regulatory changes. 

The new Code of Practice makes whistleblowing more effective within 
organisations and provides practical guidance to employers, workers and their 
representatives and sets out recommendations for raising, handling, training and 
reviewing whistleblowing in the work place.

In the past calendar year no concerns were raised under the Council’s 
whistleblowing policy.  This is however no reason for complacency and it is 
essential that fit-for-purpose policy remains in place.

17. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act

The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) introduced a statutory 
framework for those carrying out surveillance as part of an investigation. The 
Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 (2012 Act) amended RIPA to provide additional 
controls. The internal authorisation process is now followed by external 
authorisation from a Justice of the Peace.

In practice the District Council seeks to carry out surveillance activity by overt 
means whereby it is not necessary to engage the provisions of RIPA.  There were no 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



Appendix A

applications to carry out surveillance of the sort which requires RIPA authorisation 
during the year.

18.  Code of Corporate Governance

The Monitoring Officer is happy to report no difficulties in implementing the Code 
of Corporate Governance during the year.  Code compliance is overseen by the 
Audit Committee and Members will recall that during 2017 the Monitoring Officer 
updated the Code in line with legislative changes.

19.  Conclusion

As reported last year, the key legal provisions and challenges facing the Council 
remain the same.  There is a need for the Monitoring Officer to carry out both a 
proactive and reactive role in conjunction with the Standards Committee.  This 
involves raising standards, encouraging ethical behaviour, adopting good 
governance and promoting robust procedures.  

It should be noted that the elections in May 2019 may produce challenges as new 
Members begin their public lives at the Council.  Being an election year we can 
expect the already well-informed residents of the District to be acutely aware of 
their representatives and the requirements of the Code of Conduct. However, the 
Monitoring Officer has every confidence that as ever the new intake will act with 
the Nolan Principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, 
openness, honesty and leadership in mind. 

The Monitoring Officer has a reactive enforcement role and together with the 
Standards Committee’s it is his job to enforce the Code of Conduct and relevant 
sections of the Localism Act 2011.  As can be seen from the above, there are few 
reports of misconduct amongst Members and very few of any substance.  
Nevertheless, the Council cannot take this for granted and at all times it is 
necessary to be vigilant and active in safeguarding the reputation and legality of 
the Council.  

The Monitoring Officer’s Report sets out the elements of good governance and 
demonstrates that robust procedures are in place to raise ethical standards, 
identify problems and ensure that Members, Officers and the Public are aware of 
appropriate channels to raise concerns.

Martin Goodman
Monitoring Officer

Attached:

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter

Page 18

Agenda Item 3



18 July 2018

By email

Pav Ramewal
Chief Executive
Sevenoaks District Council

Dear Pav Ramewal,

Annual Review letter 2018

I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the complaints made to the
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) about your authority for the year
ended 31 March 2018. The enclosed tables present the number of complaints and enquiries
received about your authority and the decisions we made during the period. I hope this
information will prove helpful in assessing your authority’s performance in handling
complaints.

Complaint statistics
In providing these statistics, I would stress that the volume of complaints does not, in itself,
indicate the quality of the council’s performance. High volumes of complaints can be a sign
of an open, learning organisation, as well as sometimes being an early warning of wider
problems. Low complaint volumes can be a worrying sign that an organisation is not alive to
user feedback, rather than always being an indicator that all is well. So, I would encourage
you to use these figures as the start of a conversation, rather than an absolute measure of
corporate health. One of the most significant statistics attached is the number of upheld
complaints. This shows how frequently we find fault with the council when we investigate.
Equally importantly, we also give a figure for the number of cases where we decided your
authority had offered a satisfactory remedy during the local complaints process. Both figures
provide important insights.

I want to emphasise the statistics in this letter reflect the data we hold, and may not
necessarily align with the data your authority holds. For example, our numbers include
enquiries from people we signpost back to the authority, some of whom may never contact
you.

In line with usual practice, we are publishing our annual data for all authorities on our
website, alongside an annual review of local government complaints. The aim of this is to be
transparent and provide information that aids the scrutiny of local services.

Appendix B

Page 19

Agenda Item 3



Future development of annual review letters
Last year, we highlighted our plans to move away from a simplistic focus on complaint
volumes and instead turn focus onto the lessons that can be learned and the wider
improvements we can achieve through our recommendations to improve services for the
many. We have produced a new corporate strategy for 2018-21 which commits us to more
comprehensibly publish information about the outcomes of our investigations and the
occasions our recommendations result in improvements to local services.

We will be providing this broader range of data for the first time in next year’s letters, as well as
creating an interactive map of local authority performance on our website. We believe this
will lead to improved transparency of our work, as well as providing increased recognition to
the improvements councils have agreed to make following our interventions. We will
therefore be seeking views from councils on the future format of our annual letters early next
year.

Supporting local scrutiny
One of the purposes of our annual letters to councils is to help ensure learning from
complaints informs scrutiny at the local level. Sharing the learning from our investigations
and supporting the democratic scrutiny of public services continues to be one of our key
priorities. We have created a dedicated section of our website which contains a host of
information to help scrutiny committees and councillors to hold their authority to account –
complaints data, decision statements, public interest reports, focus reports and scrutiny
questions. This can be found at www.lgo.org.uk/scrutiny I would be grateful if you could
encourage your elected members and scrutiny committees to make use of these resources.

Learning from complaints to improve services
We share the issues we see in our investigations to help councils learn from the issues
others have experienced and avoid making the same mistakes. We do this through the
reports and other resources we publish. Over the last year, we have seen examples of
councils adopting a positive attitude towards complaints and working constructively with us
to remedy injustices and take on board the learning from our cases. In one great example, a
county council has seized the opportunity to entirely redesign how its occupational therapists
work with all of it districts, to improve partnership working and increase transparency for the
public. This originated from a single complaint. This is the sort of culture we all benefit from –
one that takes the learning from complaints and uses it to improve services.

Complaint handling training
We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities
and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. In 2017-18 we
delivered 58 courses, training more than 800 people. We also set up a network of council
link officers to promote and share best practice in complaint handling, and hosted a series of
seminars for that group. To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training.

Yours sincerely,

Michael King

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 20

Agenda Item 3



Local Authority Report: Sevenoaks District Council
For the Period Ending: 31/03/2018

For further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website:
http://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics

Complaints and enquiries received

Adult Care
Services

Benefits and
Tax

Corporate
and Other
Services

Education
and

Children’s
Services

Environment
Services

Highways
and

Transport
Housing

Planning and
Development

Other Total

0 2 0 0 2 1 1 4 0 10

Decisions made Detailed Investigations

Incomplete or
Invalid

Advice Given

Referred
back for

Local
Resolution

Closed After
Initial

Enquiries
Not Upheld Upheld Uphold Rate Total

0 0 5 2 0 0 0% 7

Notes Complaints Remedied

Our uphold rate is calculated in relation to the total number of detailed investigations.

The number of remedied complaints may not equal the number of upheld complaints.
This is because, while we may uphold a complaint because we find fault, we may not
always find grounds to say that fault caused injustice that ought to be remedied.

by LGO
Satisfactorily by

Authority before LGO
Involvement

0 0

P
age 21

A
genda Item

 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Monitoring Officer Annual Report
	03 Monitoring Officer's Report Appendix A
	03 LGSCO letter Appendix B


